
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
 SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

 FORT LAUDERDALE DIVISION 
 

Case No. _____________________ 
 

JOHNNIE L. BAILEY, and other similarly 
situated individuals, 

Plaintiff(s), 

v. 

BROTEN GARAGE DOOR SALES, LLC 
f/k/a BROTEN GARAGE DOOR SALES, 
INC. and GREGG D. DAVIS, 
 

Defendants. 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
) 
) 
) 
) 

  

 
COMPLAINT 

(OPT-IN PURSUANT TO 29 U.S.C § 216(B)) 
 

Plaintiffs JOHNNIE L. BAILEY (“Plaintiff” or “Bailey”) and other similarly situated 

individuals sue defendants BROTEN GARAGE DOOR SALES, LLC f/k/a BROTEN GARAGE 

DOOR SALES, INC. and GREGG D. DAVIS (collectively the “Defendants”) and allege: 

JURISDICTION 

1. This is an action to recover money damages for unpaid overtime wages and for 

retaliation under the laws of the United States1. This is also an action for race discrimination 

under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 (“Section 1981”), for retaliatory discharge under Fla. Stat. § 440.205, 

and for violations of Florida common law. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to the Fair Labor 

                                                
1 During or after discovery, Plaintiff will likely amend this complaint to include counts for unpaid wages. In essence, 
the Plaintiff has reason to believe that the Defendants made illegal deductions to his paychecks and forced Plaintiff 
to pay tolls from his own pocket. If proven, the Defendants should be liable to Plaintiff for additional wages and 
other damages. In addition, the Plaintiff is also filing a charge of discrimination with the EEOC. Once the EEOC 
issues its right to sue, the Plaintiff will move to amend this complaint to include counts for race discrimination and 
retaliation under federal and state law. 
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Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. § 201-219 (Section 216 for jurisdictional placement) (“the Act”). The 

Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the Florida law claims. 

VENUE 

2. Plaintiff is a resident of Broward County, Florida, within the jurisdiction of this 

Honorable Court. Plaintiff is a covered employee for purposes of the Act. 

3. BROTEN GARAGE DOOR SALES (the “Corporate Defendant” or “Broten”) 

and GREGG D. DAVIS (the “Individual Defendant” or “Davis”), are a Florida company and a 

Florida resident, respectively, having their main place of business in Broward County, Florida, 

where Plaintiff worked for Defendants, and at all times material hereto were and are engaged in 

interstate commerce. The Individual Defendant, upon information and belief, resides in Broward 

County, Florida. 

THE PARTIES 

4. Plaintiff is a black male. 

5. Plaintiff worked as a garage installer/service technician for the Corporate 

Defendant from October 18, 2007 until November 13, 20172. 

6. Plaintiff, at all times relevant, was an “employee” under the Act, Section 1981 

and Florida law. 

7. Broten is a company in the business of installing and servicing garage doors 

throughout Florida. 

8. At all times relevant and material, Broten was Plaintiff’s employer under Section 

1981, the Act, and Florida law. 

                                                
2 Plaintiff also worked for the Corporate Defendant for approximately 10 years in 1988 or 1989. 
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9. Defendants are and were responsible for the acts of its command staff, supervisors 

and officers, who were acting within the scope of their employment, pursuant to a policy, custom 

and/or practice of race discrimination.   

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

10. Plaintiff is a Black male.  

11. Plaintiff was an exemplary employee and at all times performed his work admirably 

and to the Defendants’ standards.    

12. Defendants’ employees in supervisory positions such as managers and sales 

persons are not black. 

13. Davis was Plaintiff’s supervisor and he is white Caucasian. 

14. Plaintiff’s co-workers who are similarly situated employees, but who are not 

black, have higher salaries and better terms of employment than Plaintiff.  

15. Defendants require black employees to use outdoors portable toilets as restrooms.  

Defendants only allow non-black and white employees to use restrooms, with air conditioner, 

inside their building.   

16. Close to his termination, Plaintiff complained about the inequality in benefits to 

black employees and also refused to use the portable toilets offered by Defendants, while 

demanding that he also be allowed in the air-conditioned bathrooms.  In response, Plaintiff’s 

supervisors told him, “here you look out for your own kind”. 

17. On or about September 27, 2017, Plaintiff sustained an injury to his left shoulder 

at work.  Plaintiff immediately reported his accident to the Defendants. 

18. Thereafter, Plaintiff began receiving medical treatment under the worker’s 

compensation laws. 

Case 0:18-cv-60003-BB   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 01/02/2018   Page 3 of 18



19. Since Plaintiff’s accident, Davis continuously and repeatedly demanded that 

Plaintiff don’t go to his appointments with his worker’s compensation doctors.  Plaintiff always 

responded that he needed to go because he was hurt and required additional treatment. 

20. On or about early November of 2017, Davis accused Plaintiff’s co-worker of theft 

and also accused Mr. Bailey of being a co-conspirator, which Plaintiff vehemently denied.  In 

response, Davis ordered Plaintiff to take a “lie-detector”, which Plaintiff refused. 

21. On or about November 13, 2017, David suspended Plaintiff “until further notice”. 

22. Defendants have not re-instated Plaintiff’s employment since then. 

23. Defendants have fired or constructively discharged Plaintiff. 

COUNT I: WAGE AND HOUR VIOLATION BY 
BROTEN GARAGE DOOR SALES (OVERTIME) 

   
24. Plaintiff re-adopts each and every factual allegation as stated in paragraphs 1-3 

above as if set out in full herein.  

25. This action is brought by Plaintiff and those similarly situated to recover from the 

Corporate Defendant unpaid overtime compensation, as well as an additional amount as 

liquidated damages, costs, and reasonable attorneys’ fees under the provisions of 29 U.S.C. § 

201 et seq., and specifically under the provisions of 29 U.S.C. § 207. 29 U.S.C. § 207 (a)(1) 

states, “No employer shall employ any of his employees . . . for a work week longer than 40 

hours unless such employee receives compensation for his employment in excess of the hours 

above-specified at a rate not less than one and a half times the regular rate at which he is 

employed.” 

26. Jurisdiction is conferred on this Court by Title 28 U.S.C. § 1337 and by Title 29 

U.S.C. § 216(b). The Corporate Defendant is and, at all times pertinent to this Complaint, was 

engaged in interstate commerce.  At all times pertinent to this Complaint, the Corporate 
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Defendant operates as an organization which sells and/or markets its services and/or goods to 

customers from throughout the United States and also provides its services for goods sold and 

transported from across state lines of other states, and the Corporate Defendant obtains and 

solicits funds from non-Florida sources, accepts funds from non-Florida sources, uses telephonic 

transmissions going over state lines to do its business, transmits funds outside the State of 

Florida, and otherwise regularly engages in interstate commerce, particularly with respect to its 

employees.  Upon information and belief, the annual gross revenue of the Corporate Defendant 

was at all times material hereto in excess of $500,000 per annum, and/or Plaintiff and those 

similarly situated, by virtue of working in interstate commerce, otherwise satisfy the Act’s 

requirements.  

27. By reason of the foregoing, the Corporate Defendant is and was, during all times 

hereafter mentioned, an enterprise engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for 

commerce as defined in §§ 3 (r) and 3(s) of the Act, 29 U.S.C. § 203(r) and 203(s) and/or 

Plaintiff and those similarly situated was and/or is engaged in interstate commerce for the 

Corporate Defendant. The Corporate Defendant’s business activities involve those to which the 

Act applies. The Corporate Defendant is a GARAGE DOOR sales company and, through its 

business activity, affects interstate commerce. The Plaintiff’s work for the Corporate Defendant 

likewise affects interstate commerce. Plaintiff was employed by the Corporate Defendant as a 

garage door installer for the Corporate Defendant’s business. 

28. While employed by the Corporate Defendant, Plaintiff worked approximately an 

average of 70 hours per week without being compensated at the rate of not less than one and one 

half times the regular rate at which he was employed. Plaintiff was employed as a garage door 

installer performing the same or similar duties as that of those other similarly situated garage 
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door installers whom Plaintiff observed working in excess of 40 hours per week without 

overtime compensation.  

29. Plaintiff worked for the Corporate Defendant from approximately November 18, 

2007 through November 13, 2017. In total, Plaintiff worked approximately 151 compensable 

weeks under the Act, or 151 compensable weeks if we count 3 years back from the filing of the 

instant action. 

30. The Corporate Defendant paid Plaintiff on average approximately $15 per hour.  

31. However, the Corporate Defendant did not properly compensate Plaintiff for 

hours that Plaintiff worked in excess of 40 per week. 

32. Plaintiff seeks to recover unpaid overtime wages accumulated from the date of 

hire and/or from 3 (three) years back from the date of the filing of this Complaint. 

33. Prior to the completion of discovery and to the best of Plaintiff’s knowledge, at 

the time of the filing of this Complaint, Plaintiff’s good faith estimate of unpaid overtime wages 

is as follows: 

a. Actual Damages: $101,925 

i. Calculation: $15 x 1.5 x 30 x 151 = $101,925 

b. Liquidated Damages: $101,925 
 

c. Total Damages: $203,850 plus reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of suit. 

34. At all times material hereto, the Corporate Defendant failed to comply with Title 

29 U.S.C. §§ 201-219 and 29 C.F.R. § 516.2 and § 516.4 et seq. in that Plaintiff and those 

similarly situated performed services and worked in excess of the maximum hours provided by 

the Act but no provision was made by the Corporate Defendant to properly pay them at the rate 

of time and one half for all hours worked in excess of forty hours (40) per workweek as provided 
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in the Act. The additional persons who may become Plaintiffs in this action are weekly-paid 

employees and/or former employees of the Corporate Defendant who are and who were subject 

to the unlawful payroll practices and procedures of the Corporate Defendant and were not paid 

time and one half of their regular rate of pay for all overtime hours worked in excess of forty.  

35. The Corporate Defendant knew and/or showed reckless disregard of the 

provisions of the Act concerning the payment of overtime wages and remains owing Plaintiff and 

those similarly situated these overtime wages since the commencement of Plaintiff’s and those 

similarly situated employees’ employment with the Corporate Defendant as set forth above, and 

Plaintiff and those similarly situated are entitled to recover double damages. The Corporate 

Defendant never posted any notice, as required by Federal Law, to inform employees of their 

federal rights to overtime and minimum wage payments.  

36. The Corporate Defendant willfully and intentionally refused to pay Plaintiff 

overtime wages as required by the laws of the United States as set forth above and remains 

owing Plaintiff these overtime wages since the commencement of Plaintiff’s employment with 

the Corporate Defendant as set forth above. 

37. Plaintiff has retained the law offices of the undersigned attorney to represent him 

in this action and is obligated to pay a reasonable attorneys’ fee. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff and those similarly situated request that this Honorable Court:  
 

A. Enter judgment for Plaintiff and others similarly situated and against the Corporate 

Defendant on the basis of the Corporate Defendant’s willful violations of the Fair 

Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. § 201 et seq. and other Federal Regulations; and 

B. Award Plaintiff actual damages in the amount shown to be due for unpaid wages and 
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overtime compensation for hours worked in excess of forty weekly; and 

C. Award Plaintiff an equal amount in double damages/liquidated damages; and 

D. Award Plaintiff reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of suit; and  

E. Grant such other and further relief, as this Court deems equitable and just.  

JURY DEMAND 

 Plaintiff and those similarly situated demand trial by jury of all issues so triable as of 

right.  

COUNT II: WAGE AND HOUR VIOLATION 
BY GREGG D. DAVIS (OVERTIME) 

 
38. Plaintiff re-adopts each and every factual allegation as stated in paragraphs 1-17 

above as if set out in full herein. 

39. At the times mentioned, the Individual Defendant was, and is now, the owner 

and/or officer of the Corporate Defendant. The Individual Defendant was an employer of 

Plaintiff and others similarly situated within the meaning of Section 3(d) of the Act [29 U.S.C. § 

203(d)], in that this defendant acted directly or indirectly in the interests of the Corporate 

Defendant in relation to the employees of the Corporate Defendant, including Plaintiff and others 

similarly situated. The Individual Defendant had operational control of the Corporate Defendant, 

was involved in the day-to-day functions of the Corporate Defendant, provided Plaintiff with his 

work schedule, directly supervised Plaintiff, and is jointly liable for Plaintiff’s damages. 

40. The Individual Defendant is and was at all times relevant a person in control of 

the Corporate Defendant’s financial affairs and can cause the Corporate Defendant to 

compensate (or not to compensate) its employees in accordance with the Act. 

41. The Individual Defendant willfully and intentionally caused Plaintiff not to 

receive overtime compensation as required by the laws of the United States as set forth above 
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and remains owing Plaintiff these overtime wages since the commencement of Plaintiff’s 

employment with the Corporate Defendant as set forth above.   

42. Plaintiff has retained the law offices of the undersigned attorney to represent him 

in this action and is obligated to pay a reasonable attorneys’ fee. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff and those similarly situated request that this Honorable Court:  
 

A. Enter judgment for Plaintiff and others similarly situated and against the Individual 

Defendant on the basis of the Defendants’ willful violations of the Fair Labor 

Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. § 201 et seq. and other Federal Regulations; and 

B. Award Plaintiff actual damages in the amount shown to be due for unpaid wages and 

overtime compensation for hours worked in excess of forty weekly; and 

C. Award Plaintiff an equal amount in double damages/liquidated damages; and 

D. Award Plaintiff reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of suit; and  

E. Grant such other and further relief as this Court deems equitable and just.  

JURY DEMAND 

 Plaintiff and those similarly situated demand trial by jury of all issues so triable as of 

right. 

COUNT III: INVASION OF PRIVACY – APPROPIATION 
AGAINST BROTEN GARAGE DOOR SALES, INC. 

 
43. Plaintiff re-adopts each and every factual allegation as stated in paragraphs 1-3 

above as if set out in full herein.  

44. Fla. Stat. § 540.08 states, in part: 

Unauthorized publication of name or likeness.— 
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(1) No person shall publish, print, display or otherwise publicly use for 
purposes of trade or for any commercial or advertising purpose the name, portrait, 
photograph, or other likeness of any natural person without the express written or 
oral consent to such use given by: 

(a) Such person; or 
(b) Any other person, firm or corporation authorized in writing by such 

person to license the commercial use of her or his name or likeness; or 
(c) If such person is deceased, any person, firm or corporation authorized 

in writing to license the commercial use of her or his name or likeness, or if no 
person, firm or corporation is so authorized, then by any one from among a class 
composed of her or his surviving spouse and surviving children. 

 
(2) In the event the consent required in subsection (1) is not obtained, the 

person whose name, portrait, photograph, or other likeness is so used, or any 
person, firm, or corporation authorized by such person in writing to license the 
commercial use of her or his name or likeness, or, if the person whose likeness is 
used is deceased, any person, firm, or corporation having the right to give such 
consent, as provided hereinabove, may bring an action to enjoin such unauthorized 
publication, printing, display or other public use, and to recover damages for any 
loss or injury sustained by reason thereof, including an amount which would have 
been a reasonable royalty, and punitive or exemplary damages. 

 
45. The Corporate Defendant is using Plaintiff’s picture on its website and on 

marketing materials. 

46. The use of Plaintiff’s picture in the Corporate Defendant’s website is an 

unwarranted appropriation or exploitation of Plaintiff’s personality. 

47. The Corporate Defendant posted a picture of Plaintiff without Plaintiff’s 

authorization or permission.  Alternatively, the posting of Plaintiff’s picture in the Corporate 

Defendant’s website after Plaintiff’s discharge has not been authorized by Plaintiff.  

48. Defendant has violated Fla. Stat. § 540.08. 

49. As a direct and proximate cause of the Corporate Defendant’s actions, the 

Plaintiff has been damaged. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff is entitled to recover damages in an amount to be determined at 

trial, including the Corporate Defendant’s profits, losses sustained by Plaintiff due to the 
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Corporate Defendant’s conduct, pain and suffering, an injunction against the Corporate 

Defendant, and costs of this action, as well as any other and further relief this Court deems 

equitable and just.  

JURY DEMAND 

 Plaintiff demands trial by jury of all issues so triable as of right.  

COUNT IV:  
FEDERAL STATUTORY VIOLATION PURSUANT TO 29 U.S.C. 215 (a)(3) 

RETALIATORY DISCHARGE AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS 
 
50. Plaintiff re-adopts each and every factual allegation as stated in paragraphs 1-9 

and 21-42 above as if set out in full herein. 

51. The Defendants willfully and intentionally refused to pay Plaintiff his applicable 

overtime wages as required by the laws of the United States and remain owing Plaintiff these 

wages as set forth above.  

52. 29 U.S.C. § 206(a)(3) states that it shall be unlawful for any person “to discharge 

or in any manner discriminate against any employee because such employee has filed any 

complaint or instituted or caused to be instituted any proceeding under or related to this chapter, 

or has testified or is about to testify in such proceeding . . .” 

53. Plaintiff complained about his unpaid overtime wages to the Defendants close to 

the time of his termination.  As a result, on or about November 13, 2017, Plaintiff was either 

constructively terminated, or outright fired. 

54. The motivating factor, which caused Plaintiff’s discharge as described above, was 

his complaint seeking the payment of overtime wages from the Defendants.  In other words, 

Plaintiff would not have been fired but for his complaint about unpaid wages to the Defendants.  
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55. The Defendants’ termination of Plaintiff was in direct violation of 29 U.S.C. 

§ 215(a)(3) and, as a direct result, Plaintiff has been damaged.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that this Honorable Court:  

A. Enter a judgment against the Defendants for all back wages from the date of 

discharge to the present date and an equal amount of back wages as liquidated damages, 

attorneys’ fees, costs, and; 

B. Reinstatement and promotion and injunctive relief prohibiting the Defendants 

from discriminating in the manner described above, emotional distress and humiliation, and pain 

and suffering, front wages, as well as other damages recoverable by law under 29 U.S.C. § 

216(b). 

JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiff and those similarly situated demand trial by jury of all issues so triable as of 

right. 

COUNT V: VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1981 
(DISCRIMINATION) AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS 

 
56. Plaintiff adopts and incorporates by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1-16 

and 20-23 of this Complaint. 

57. Mr. Bailey is a member of a protected class of black citizens. 

58. At all times relevant, Mr. Bailey was in a contractual relationship with the 

Defendants within the meaning of 42 U.S.C.A. § 1981, as amended. 

59. During the course of Plaintiff’s employment with the Defendants, the Defendants 

have violated Plaintiff’s rights by depriving him of his right to the enjoyment of all benefits, 
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privileges, terms and conditions of his employment contract as is enjoyed by Caucasian or non-

black citizens, in violation of 42 U.S.C.A. § 1981(b), as amended. 

60. During the course of Mr. Bailey’s employment with the Defendants, Plaintiff has 

not enjoyed the same benefits, privileges, terms and conditions of employment, as have 

Caucasian or non-black employees of the Defendants. 

61. Defendants’ treatment, practices and policies directed toward Mr. Bailey, as more 

fully described in paragraphs 10-16 and 20-23 of this Complaint, denied Bailey the full and equal 

benefits of all laws and proceedings for the security of persons and property as is enjoyed by 

Caucasian or non-black citizens, in violation of 42 U.S.C.A. § 1981, as amended. 

62. Defendants’ treatment, practices and policies directed toward Mr. Bailey, as more 

fully described in paragraphs 10-16 and 20-23, denied Bailey the right to make and enforce 

contracts as enjoyed by Caucasian or non-black citizens, in violation of 42 U.S.C.A. § 1981, as 

amended. 

63. Through its actions and treatment of Bailey, the Defendants intended to 

discriminate against Bailey on the basis of Bailey’s race.   

64. During the course of Bailey’s employment with the Defendants, Bailey has been 

subjected to a discriminatory, hostile and offensive work environment because of his race, as 

more fully described in paragraphs 10-16 and 20-23 of this Complaint.  

65. Defendants, at all times, have had knowledge of the discriminatory acts and 

conduct by Davis. 

66. Despite Bailey’s complaints and the Defendants’ first-hand knowledge of the 

discriminatory acts and/or conduct, the Defendants took no appropriate remedial action. 

67. The discriminatory acts of the Defendants were willful, wanton, and reckless. 
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68. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing, Plaintiff has suffered 

embarrassment, humiliation, emotional distress, and other forms of damage.  

69. Plaintiff has suffered damages of an on-going and continuous nature. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that this Honorable Court: 

A. Enter judgment in Plaintiff’s favor and against the Corporate Defendant and against 
Davis for their violations of 42 U.S.C.A. § 1981, as amended;  
 

B. Award Plaintiff actual damages suffered;  
 

C. Award Plaintiff compensatory damages under 42 U.S.C.A. § 1981 for the embarrassment, 
anxiety, humiliation and emotional distress Plaintiff has suffered;  

 
D. Award Plaintiff prejudgment interest on his damages award;  

 
E. Award Plaintiff punitive damages according to proof; 

 
F. Enjoin the Corporate Defendant’s and Davis’ officers, agents, employees and anyone 

acting in concert with them, from discriminating, harassing and retaliating against 
Plaintiff and any employee;  

 
G. Award Plaintiff reasonable costs and attorney's fees; and  

 
H. Grant Plaintiff such other and further relief as this court deems equitable and just. 

 
JURY DEMAND 

 Plaintiff demands trial by jury of all issues so triable as of right.  

COUNT VI: VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1981 (RETALIATION) 

70. Plaintiff adopts and incorporates by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1-16, 

20-23 and 56-69 of this Complaint. 

71. Plaintiff is a black male. 

72. At all times relevant, Plaintiff was in a contractual relationship with the 

Defendants within the meaning of 42 U.S.C.A. § 1981, as amended. 
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73. During the course of Plaintiff’s employment with these Defendants, these 

Defendants have violated Plaintiff’s rights by depriving him of his right to the enjoyment of all 

benefits, privileges, terms and conditions of his employment contract as is enjoyed by non-black 

employees, in violation of 42 U.S.C.A. § 1981(b), as amended. 

74. During the course of Plaintiff’s employment with the Defendants, Plaintiff has not 

enjoyed the same benefits, privileges, terms and conditions of employment, as have non-black 

employees of these Defendants. 

75. Plaintiff objected to being treated differently because he is black and in response 

the Defendants fired or constructively fired Plaintiff on or about November 13, 2017. 

76. By firing the Plaintiff, the Defendants retaliated against Plaintiff on the basis of 

his race.   

77. Defendants’ firing of Plaintiff denied Plaintiff the right to make and enforce 

contracts as enjoyed by non-black citizens, in violation of 42 U.S.C.A. § 1981, as amended. 

78. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing, Plaintiff has suffered 

embarrassment, humiliation, emotional distress, and other forms of damage.  

79. Defendant’s discriminatory conduct was willful, wanton and reckless. 

80. Plaintiff has suffered damages. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that this Honorable Court: 

A. Enter judgment in Plaintiff’s favor and against the Defendants for their violations 
of 42 U.S.C.A. § 1981, as amended;  

 
B. Award Plaintiff actual damages suffered;  

 
C. Award Plaintiff compensatory damages under 42 U.S.C.A. § 1981 for the 

embarrassment, anxiety, humiliation and emotional distress Plaintiff has suffered;  
 

D. Award Plaintiff prejudgment interest on his damages award;  
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E. Award Plaintiff punitive damages according to proof; 
 

F. Enjoin the Defendants officers, agents, employees and anyone acting in concert 
with them, from discriminating, harassing and retaliating against Plaintiff and any 
employee;  

 
G. Award Plaintiff reasonable costs and attorney's fees; and  

 
H. Grant Plaintiff such other and further relief as this court deems equitable and just. 

 
JURY DEMAND 

 Plaintiff demands trial by jury of all issues so triable as of right.  

COUNT VII: VIOLATION OF FLA. STAT. § 440.205 
(RETALIATION AGAINST BROTEN ONLY) 

 
81. Plaintiff adopts and incorporates by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1-9 

and 17-23 of this Complaint. 

82. On or about September 27, 2017, the Plaintiff suffered a work-related injury, 

namely, he injured his left shoulder.  The injury happened while Plaintiff was working for the 

Defendant. 

83. The injury alleged above required medical treatment. 

84. After the work-related accident as described above, the Plaintiff reported his 

injuries to the Defendant and requested medical treatment. 

85. On or about November 13, 2017, Broten suspended Plaintiff indefinitely and did 

not allow him to re-commence work. 

86. Broten has fired or constructively discharged Plaintiff. 

87. Plaintiff’s work prior to his discharge was satisfactory or more than satisfactory 

and the sole apparent reason for the termination of Plaintiff’s employment was that Plaintiff 

sought or attempted to seek compensation under the Workers' Compensation Law, as Plaintiff 

was entitled to do. 
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88. A motivating factor which, caused the Plaintiff’s discharge as described above, 

was the request and/or attempted request for worker’s compensation benefits pursuant to Fla. 

Stat. §§ 440 et. seq.  Alternatively, Plaintiff would not have been fired but for his claiming 

worker’s compensation benefits as described above. 

89. Defendant’s termination of the Plaintiff was in direct violation of Fla. Stat. 

§ 440.205 and, as a direct result, the Plaintiff has been damaged. 

90. By reason of Defendant’s wrongful discharge of Plaintiff, Plaintiff has been 

damaged in that Plaintiff has suffered lost wages and has suffered emotional distress. 

91. The Defendant’s conduct in wrongfully discharging Plaintiff was willful, wanton, 

and in reckless disregard of Plaintiff’s rights and therefore Plaintiff is entitled to punitive 

damages. 

 WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff respectfully requests judgment against Broten for all back 

wages from the date of discharge to the present date; reinstatement and promotion; injunctive 

relief prohibiting Broten from wrongfully discharging in the manner described above; front 

wages; and for any and all other relief that this Court may deem just and proper. 

JURY TRIAL DEMAND 

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury of all issues so triable. 

Dated: January 2, 2018. 
 

Respectfully submitted, 

By:__/s/ R. Martin Saenz  
        R. Martin Saenz, Esquire 

                               Fla. Bar No.: 0640166  
                                                        Email: msaenz@saenzanderson.com  
  SAENZ & ANDERSON, PLLC  

       20900 NE 30th Avenue, Ste. 800 
       Aventura, Florida 33180 
       Telephone: (305) 503-5131 
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       Facsimile: (888) 270-5549 
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INSTRUCTIONS FOR ATTORNEYS COMPLETING CIVIL COVER SHEET FORM JS 44

Authority For Civil Cover Sheet

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replaces nor supplements the filings and service ofpleading or other papers as

required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is
required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. Consequently, a civil cover sheet is submitted to the Clerk of
Court for each civil complaint filed. The attorney filing a case should complete the form as follows:

I.(a) Plaintiffs-Defendants. Enter names (last, first, middle initial) ofplaintiff and defendant. If the plaintiff or defendant is a government agency, use

only the full name or standard abbreviations. If the plaintiff or defendant is an official within a government agency, identify first the agency and
then the official, giving both name and title.

(b) County of Residence. For each civil case filed, except U.S.plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county where the first listed plaintiff resides at the
time of filing. In U.S.plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county in which the first listed defendant resides at the time of filing. (NOTE: In land
condemnation cases, the county of residence of the "defendant" is the location of the tract of land involved.)

(c) Attorneys. Enter the firm name, address, telephone number, and attorney ofrecord. If there are several attorneys, list them on an attachment, noting
in this section "(see attachment)".

II. Jurisdiction. The basis ofjurisdiction is set forth under Rule 8(a), F.R.Cv.P., which requires that jurisdictions be shown in pleadings. Place an "X"
in one of the boxes. If there is more than one basis ofjurisdiction, precedence is given in the order shown below.
United States plaintiff. (1) Jurisdiction based on 28 U.S.C. 1345 and 1348. Suits by agencies and officers ofthe United States are included here.
United States defendant. (2) When the plaintiff is suing the United States, its officers or agencies, place an "X" in this box.
Federal question. (3) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1331, where jurisdiction arises under the Constitution of the United States, an amendment
to the Constitution, an act of Congress or a treaty of the United States. In cases where the U.S.is a party, the U.S.plaintiff or defendant code takes
precedence, and box 1 or 2 should be marked.
Diversity of citizenship. (4) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1332, where parties are citizens of different states. When Box 4 is checked, the
citizenship of the different parties must be checked. (See Section III below; NOTE: federal question actions take precedence over diversity
cases.)

III. Residence (citizenship) of Principal Parties. This section of the JS 44 is to be completed ifdiversity ofcitizenship was indicated above. Mark this
section for each principal party.

IV. Nature of Suit. Place an "X" in the appropriate box. If the nature of suit cannot be determined, be sure the cause of action, in Section VI below, is
sufficient to enable the deputy clerk or the statistical clerk(s) in the Administrative Office to determine the nature of suit. Ifthe cause fits more than
one nature of suit, select the most definitive.

V. Origin. Place an "X" in one of the six boxes.
Original Proceedings. (1) Cases which originate in the United States district courts.

Removed from State Court. (2) Proceedings initiated in state courts may be removed to the district courts under Title 28 U.S.C., Section 1441.
When the petition for removal is granted, check this box.
Remanded from Appellate Court. (3) Check this box for cases remanded to the district court for further action. Use the date ofremand as the filing
date.
Reinstated or Reopened. (4) Check this box for cases reinstated or reopened in the district court. Use the reopening date as the filing date.
Transferred from Another District. (5) For cases transferred under Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1404(a). Do not use this for within district transfers or

multidistrict litigation transfers.
Multidistrict Litigation. (6) Check this box when a multidistrict case is transferred into the district under authority ofTitle 28 U.S.C. Section 1407.
When this box is checked, do not check (5) above.

VI. Cause of Action. Report the civil statute directly related to the cause of action and give a brief description of the cause. Do not cite jurisdictional
statutes unless diversity. Example: U.S. Civil Statute: 47 USC 553 Brief Description: Unauthorized reception ofcable service

VII. Requested in Complaint. Class Action. Place an "X" in this box ifyou are filing a class action under Rule 23, F.R.Cv.P.
Demand. In this space enter the actual dollar amount being demanded or indicate other demand, such as a preliminary injunction.
JuryDemand.Check the appropriate box to indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded.

VIII. Related Cases. This section of the JS 44 is used to reference related pending cases, if any. If there are related pending cases, insert the docket
numbers and the corresponding judge names for such cases.

Date and Attorney Signature. Date and sign the civil cover sheet.



AO 440 (Rev. 06/12)  Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff(s)

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

Case 0:18-cv-60003-BB   Document 1-2   Entered on FLSD Docket 01/02/2018   Page 1 of 2

        Southern District of Florida

JOHNNIE L. BAILEY, and other similarly situated 
individuals,

BROTEN GARAGE DOOR SALES, LLC f/k/a 
BROTEN GARAGE DOOR SALES, INC. and 

GREGG D. DAVIS,

GREGG D. DAVIS 
886 S. ANDREWS AVE 
POMPANO BEACH, FL 33069 
 

R. Martin Saenz, Esq. 
Saenz & Anderson, PLLC 
20900 NE 30th Ave., Ste. 800 
Aventura, FL 33180
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Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date) .

’ I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

’ I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

’ I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or

’ I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or

’ Other (specify):

.

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

Case 0:18-cv-60003-BB   Document 1-2   Entered on FLSD Docket 01/02/2018   Page 2 of 2

0.00

Print Save As... Reset
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff(s)

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION
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If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
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CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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        Southern District of Florida

JOHNNIE L. BAILEY, and other similarly situated 
individuals,

BROTEN GARAGE DOOR SALES, LLC f/k/a 
BROTEN GARAGE DOOR SALES, INC. and 

GREGG D. DAVIS,

BROTEN GARAGE DOOR SALES, LLC f/k/a BROTEN GARAGE DOOR SALES, INC. 
c/o LAMAY, KRISTE K 
886 S. ANDREWS AVE 
POMPANO BEACH, FL 33069 
 

R. Martin Saenz, Esq. 
Saenz & Anderson, PLLC 
20900 NE 30th Ave., Ste. 800 
Aventura, FL 33180
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Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))
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’ I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

’ I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

’ I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or

’ I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or

’ Other (specify):

.

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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ClassAction.org
This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this 
post: Black Employee Accuses Broten Garage Door Sales of Discrimination, Unlawful Pay Practices

https://www.classaction.org/news/black-employee-accuses-broten-garage-door-sales-of-discrimination-unlawful-pay-practices



